1998

Mary M. Tuck v. The Beehive House, a Utah Limited Partnership, and S. Chad Godfrey, and individual : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Rule 3(a), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. This Court has already determined that the Order from which Mr. Godfrey appeals constitutes a final judgment and that jurisdiction is proper. (See Order Withdrawing Sua Sponte Motion for Summary Disposition.)

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the trial court abuse its discretion by entering the ultimate discovery sanction of default judgment against Mr. Godfrey when: (1) Mr. Godfrey, in fact, complied with the discovery requests by producing documents relating to him personally; (2) he, as well as employees of the other defendant, The Beehive House, made diligent, good-faith efforts to locate and produce the bank records requested of The Beehive House; (3) the documents not produced were those of The Beehive House and not of Mr. Godfrey personally; (4) the method by which the documents were requested was not procedurally correct; and (5) the trial court never ordered Mr. Godfrey to produce the documents at issue, even though its sanction of default judgment was based on the incorrect assumption that it had. (R. at 461-66.)

The standard of review for imposition of discovery sanctions is abuse of discretion. See Preston & Chambers, P.C. v. Koller, 943 P.2d 260 (Utah Ct. App. 1997). It should be noted, however, that “[w]hen the sanction imposed is that of a default judgment, the most severe of sanctions, the trial court’s range of discretion is more

narrow than when the court is imposing less severe sanctions.” Utah Dept. of Transp. v. Osguthorpe, 892 P.2d 4, 8 (Utah 1995).

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

Rule 30(b)(5), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

Rule 34(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

Rule 37(b)(2)(A through C), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

Rule 37(d), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

(Copies are set forth in the Addendum)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This case involves a dispute over whether defendant S. Chad Godfrey is obligated to repay in full certain funds given him by the plaintiff. (R. at 1-32, 71-85.) During the proceedings below, the trial court entered default judgment against Mr. Godfrey, for the entire amount plaintiff claimed in her Complaint, as a discovery sanction because the other defendant, The Beehive House, was unable, after good-faith efforts, to locate certain of its bank records prior to a scheduled deposition. (R. at 461-64; R. at 548, pp. 15-20.) Whether the trial court erred in entering said default judgment is the issue in this appeal.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below.

Based on plaintiff’s Motion for Sanctions for Failure to Make Discovery, the trial court struck the pleadings of Mr. Godfrey and entered default judgment against him for

approximately \$490,000.00. (R. at 225-27, 461-64.) Mr. Godfrey timely filed a Notice of Appeal from that judgment. (R. at 465-67.) Claims still remain against The Beehive House. (R. at 461-64.)

This Court filed a Sua Sponte Motion to Dismiss, which it later withdrew based on the fact that the nature of the issues on appeal differ in substance from the underlying facts of the remaining claims.

C. Statement of Facts.

1. On November 29, 1995, plaintiff filed her Verified Complaint in this action, naming as defendants The Beehive House, a Utah limited partnership, and S. Chad Godfrey, an individual who, during the relevant period of this litigation, was employed as the marketing director of Beehive Health, Inc., an affiliated company of The Beehive House. (R. at 1-9, 323; R. at 548, p. 17.)

2. On August 7, 1996, with no prior notice to Brad Merrill, who served as counsel for both defendants at that time, plaintiff noticed the deposition of Mr. Godfrey for August 19, 1996. (R. at 117, 141-42.) The Notice of Deposition included a request that Mr. Godfrey bring certain documents to the deposition. (R. at 86-88.) A copy of the Notice of the August 19, 1996 Deposition is attached hereto in Addendum "B".)

3. Together with the Notice of Deposition, plaintiff's counsel delivered a letter to Mr. Merrill that stated: "If August 19th creates a problem for you, please let me know; however, we would like to complete the deposition as soon as possible." (R. at 117, 133.)

4. After receiving the Notice of Deposition and the letter, Mr. Merrill contacted plaintiff's counsel and informed him, as he had done several times prior, that Mr. Godfrey was out of state and would not be able to return until at least the middle of September, 1996. Mr. Merrill explained that Mr. Godfrey's whereabouts were confidential,¹ but that he would nonetheless be available for deposition the following month. (R. at 117, 142.)

5. Plaintiff's counsel refused to postpone the deposition in spite of Mr. Merrill's representation that Mr. Godfrey would be available in September, 1996. (R. at 117, 142.)

6. On August 15, 1996, Mr. Merrill again contacted plaintiff's counsel and explained that because his wife was prematurely in labor and hospitalized, he would not be able to file a Motion for Protective Order before the noticed deposition date. Plaintiff's counsel agreed to allow Mr. Merrill at least an extra week to file such a motion or to reach some other resolution of the dispute. Plaintiff's counsel stated that, in any event, he had already canceled the deposition arrangements for August 19. (R. at 118, 142-43.)

7. On August 20, 1996, upon returning to work, Mr. Merrill contacted plaintiff's counsel in an attempt to resolve the scheduling of Mr. Godfrey's deposition.

¹ Mr. Godfrey was incarcerated in a federal penitentiary at the time. For a variety of obvious personal reasons, Mr. Godfrey wanted to keep that fact as private as possible. (R. at 548, p. 13.)

Mr. Merrill again explained that Mr. Godfrey would not be available until at least the middle of September 1996, but that, to provide assurances of this, Mr. Godfrey would agree to stipulate that if he did not appear for his deposition at that time, sanctions would be entered against him. No agreement, however, was reached. (R. at 118, 143.)

8. Without any further contact, plaintiff's counsel delivered a proposed Stipulation to Mr. Merrill on August 22, 1996. The Stipulation proposed that Mr. Godfrey would be deposed on September 12, 1996, and that if he did not appear, both he and The Beehive House would agree to default judgment against them. (R. at 118-19, 136-39, 143.)

9. Upon receiving the proposed Stipulation, Mr. Merrill telephoned plaintiff's counsel and explained that Mr. Godfrey would not be available until September 19, 1996. Mr. Merrill also explained that The Beehive House would not stipulate to default judgment against it should Mr. Godfrey not appear at his deposition because The Beehive House had no control over him. Mr. Merrill indicated the proposed Stipulation was otherwise agreeable, but that if these issues were not resolved, he would need to seek a protective order. (R. at 119, 143.)

10. On August 26, 1996, plaintiff's counsel delivered a letter stating that although he would agree to depose Mr. Godfrey on September 20, plaintiff would not agree to delete from the proposed Stipulation the provision for default judgment against

The Beehive House in the event Mr. Godfrey did not attend his deposition. (R. at 120, 140, 144.)

11. Upon receiving the August 26, 1996 letter, Mr. Merrill again informed plaintiff's counsel that The Beehive House would not agree to judgment against it based on someone else's conduct. Mr. Merrill suggested that the parties should nevertheless proceed with Mr. Godfrey's deposition because they had finally agreed to a date, and that, in the unlikely event Mr. Godfrey did not appear, plaintiff could then move for sanctions against The Beehive House and allow The Beehive House an opportunity to respond. (R. at 120, 144.)

12. On the morning of August 28, 1996, plaintiff's counsel faxed a letter to Mr. Merrill stating that plaintiff had elected to pursue a Motion for Sanctions against both Mr. Godfrey and The Beehive House. Before Mr. Merrill was able to file a motion for a protective order on behalf of the defendants, plaintiff's counsel served the Motion for Sanctions on Mr. Merrill at approximately 11:00 a.m. that same day. (R. at 120-21, 144.)

13. Despite the facts outlined above, plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions was based solely on the grounds that Mr. Godfrey did not appear at the deposition originally scheduled for August 19, 1996 (which plaintiff's counsel himself admitted he had canceled), and that Mr. Godfrey failed to file a motion for a protective order. (R. at 100-01, 118, 142-43.)

14. In plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions and accompanying memorandum, no mention was made of the above-described negotiations between counsel nor of the agreement to depose Mr. Godfrey on September 20, 1996. (R. at 99-113.)

15. On March 28, 1997, plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions came on for hearing before the trial court. At the hearing, the parties agreed that Mr. Godfrey was available and that his deposition would be taken forthwith. (R. at 546, pp. 2-6.) In an Order dated April 21, 1997, the court imposed as sanctions against Mr. Godfrey the attorneys' fees and costs plaintiff incurred in connection with the Motion for Sanctions. (R. at 217-18.) No order was issued compelling Mr. Godfrey to produce any documents. (R. at 217-18.) A copy of the court's April 21, 1997 Order is attached hereto in Addendum "B".)

16. Thereafter, on June 4, 1997, plaintiff filed a Notice of Deposition scheduling Mr. Godfrey's deposition for July 11, 1997. The Notice also scheduled the deposition of B. Ralph Godfrey, a representative of The Beehive House, for July 10, 1997. The Notice requested that these deponents bring certain documents to their depositions "to the extent such documents [were] in their possession or under their control or [were] otherwise accessible to them." One of the requested items was bank records, statements, canceled checks, etc., of The Beehive House (the "Bank Records"). (R. at 221-23.) A copy of the second Notice of Deposition is attached hereto in Addendum "B".

17. Upon receipt of the second Notice of Deposition, Mr. Godfrey and various employees of The Beehive House searched diligently for the documents requested. Their efforts, as more fully described in the Argument section below, included several searches for the Bank Records of the Beehive House that had been placed in storage and subsequently moved to different locations. (R. at 314-29.) In addition, The Beehive House issued a subpoena to its bank, requesting copies of the Bank Records. (R. at 548, p. 16.) Despite these efforts, The Beehive House was unable to locate the bank records plaintiff had requested.² (R. at 315-18.)

18. At the appointed time on July 11, 1997, Mr. Godfrey was at the premises where the deposition was scheduled, awaiting the instruction to come to the specific room where the deposition was being conducted. His counsel appeared and delivered to plaintiff's counsel all the documents Mr. Godfrey had been able to locate responsive to the requests directed to him.³ The Beehive House also appeared with all the documents it was able to locate. Mr. Godfrey was prepared to be sworn and deposed. Plaintiff's counsel, however, chose not to depose Mr. Godfrey at that time, opting instead to review the documents he had brought with him and await production of The Beehive House's bank records before deposing Mr. Godfrey. (R. at 315, 324.)

²During the time Mr. Godfrey was imprisoned, he exercised no control over and had nothing to do with the documents plaintiff requested. (R. at 315, 324.)

³At this point, Mr. Godfrey had retained the Snow, Christensen & Martineau as separate counsel. The Beehive House was still represented by Mr. Merrill. Mr. Merrill has subsequently withdrawn because of conflicts. The Beehive House is now represented by Dennis K. Poole.

19. On July 14, 1997, plaintiff filed a Motion for Sanctions for Failure to Make Discovery against both The Beehive House and Mr. Godfrey on the ground that they had not produced all the documents requested. (R. at 225-26.) In response to plaintiff's Motion, Mr. Godfrey asserted that he had in fact produced all the requested documents he could find that were in his possession or control. (R. at 314-25.)

20. This second Motion for Sanctions came on for hearing before the trial court on September 4, 1997. (see Transcript of Hearing, R. at 548, pp. 1-42, a copy of which is attached hereto in Addendum "C".) At the hearing, the trial court granted plaintiff's Motion and authorized sanctions against both defendants.

21. In its Order on Plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions for Failure to Make Discovery, dated November 18, 1997 (the "Default Order"), the trial court struck the pleadings of Mr. Godfrey and entered default judgment against him for the following sums: (a) \$381,700.00, representing the principal amount of plaintiff's claim; (b) \$109,322.30, representing prejudgment interest through September 15, 1997; (c) \$170.00, representing plaintiff's costs; and (d) postjudgment interest on the foregoing amounts until paid in full. (R. at 461-64.) A copy of the Default Order, from which Mr. Godfrey appeals, is attached hereto in Addendum "B".

22. In imposing the sanction of default judgment against Mr. Godfrey, the trial court relied heavily on the assumption that it had previously ordered Mr. Godfrey to produce the missing documents and that Mr. Godfrey was under a continuing obligation,

pursuant to the original Notice of Deposition filed in August 1996, to produce the records in question. (R. at 548, pp. 28-29, 33-34.) No such order was in place, however. The trial court had simply ordered the deposition to be rescheduled. (R. at 217-220; R. at 546, pp. 1-10.) In addition, the August 1996 Notice of Deposition simply requested that Mr. Godfrey bring certain documents to his deposition, which did not occur and which Plaintiff's counsel himself canceled. (R. at 86-89; 118, 142-43.)

23. Pursuant to the trial court's Default Order, The Beehive House again undertook to locate the documents. After extensive efforts, The Beehive House located the documents and produced them to the plaintiff.

24. On December 17, 1997, Mr. Godfrey filed a Notice of Appeal of the Default 1997 Order and as to the default judgment entered against him. (R. at 465-66.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court abused its discretion in entering the most severe sanction of default judgment against Mr. Godfrey. First, it was improper to enter default judgment against Mr. Godfrey for the failure of the other defendant, The Beehive House, to produce its bank records. Mr. Godfrey did not have control over or possess the bank records; The Beehive House did. Moreover, Mr. Godfrey produced all the documents he was able to locate that were responsive to the requests directed to him, personally.

In addition, the trial court's decision to enter default judgment against Mr. Godfrey was based on a number of incorrect assumptions and procedural flaws. For instance,

contrary to the trial court's belief, there was no prior order in place compelling Mr. Godfrey to produce the records requested. Plaintiff's first Notice of Deposition merely requested that Mr. Godfrey bring certain documents to his deposition. Plaintiff's counsel canceled that deposition, and there was no continuing obligation on Mr. Godfrey to produce anything. Furthermore, at the hearing on plaintiff's first Motion for Sanctions, the trial court did not set a specific date by which Mr. Godfrey was to produce the requested records; rather, the court simply stated that his deposition needed to be rescheduled, which it was. Thus, the only obligation of Mr. Godfrey was to attend his July 11, 1997 deposition with the documents he could locate. The documents were produced and delivered to plaintiff's counsel, and Mr. Godfrey was prepared to be sworn in and deposed. Nonetheless, the trial court entered the most severe discovery sanction against him. It was an abuse of discretion to do so.

ARGUMENT

"[D]efault judgment is an unusually harsh sanction that should be meted out with caution." Darrington v. Wade, 812 P.2d 452, 456 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). Entry of default judgment as a discovery sanction requires a showing of willfulness, bad faith, or fault, such as the intentional failure to comply with a court order compelling discovery. See Utah Dept. of Transp. v. Osguthorpe, 892 P.2d 4, 8 (Utah 1995). Judgments by default "are disfavored by the law," and whenever possible, cases should be decided on the merits. Wright v. Wright, 941 P.2d 646, 649 (Utah Ct. App. 1997).

In Utah, the trial court has discretion to select which discovery sanction to impose. That wide grant of power is abused, however, if there is ““an erroneous conclusion of law or no evidentiary basis for the trial court’s ruling.”” Morton v. Continental Baking Co., 938 P.2d 271, 274-75 (Utah 1997) (citing Askew v. Hardman, 918 P.2d 469, 472 (Utah 1996)). In this case, for the reasons set forth below, the trial court’s selection of default judgment as a discovery sanction against Mr. Godfrey was based on several erroneous conclusions of law, misperceptions of the evidence, and incorrect recollections of the record. It was therefore an abuse of discretion to enter any sanction against Mr. Godfrey, particularly the ultimate sanction of default judgment.

I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY DEFAULT-
ING MR. GODFREY FOR THE INABILITY OF THE OTHER
DEFENDANT, THE BEEHIVE HOUSE, TO LOCATE THE
BANK RECORDS.

Default judgment should not be entered against one defendant for another defendant’s inability to timely locate requested documents.

In spite of this simple principle, in the present case, the trial court entered default judgment against Mr. Godfrey when it was The Beehive House’s bank records at issue. These two defendants are separate. (R. at 323; R. at 548, p. 20.) At the September 4, 1997 hearing on plaintiff’s Motion for Sanctions, counsel for the defendants emphasized that the bank records which had not been produced were in the “possession, custody and control of the Beehive House”—not Mr. Godfrey. (R. at 548, p. 15.) The bank records in question were stored and maintained by the Beehive House. In addition, throughout the

relevant period, Mr. Godfrey was incarcerated out of state; he obviously did not work at The Beehive House during that time, nor did he have access to the documents at issue. (R. at 548, pp. 17, 20.) In fact, The Beehive House, recognizing its responsibility to locate the bank records prior to the July 11, 1997 deposition date, subpoenaed its bank for copies of the bank statements. (R. at 548, p. 16.)

At one point during the hearing, the trial court seemed to recognize that it was the responsibility of The Beehive House, not Mr. Godfrey, to produce the bank records. The court stated, “All right. And at the time that the requests were made for the documents, that the documents, whatever documents there were, were at the—under the control of the Beehive House; isn’t that correct?” (R. at 548, p. 18.) Nonetheless, in issuing its ruling, the court explained that default would be entered against Mr. Godfrey because he had not “requested or subpoenaed documents from the bank himself. He’s relied on the Beehive House to do his work for him.” (R. at 548, p. 34.).

The court contradicted itself: The defendants were requested to produce those documents that were within their respective possession or control; the Beehive House had control over and maintained the Bank Records, which were in fact bank records of the Beehive House and not of Mr. Godfrey; the Beehive House undertook to find and produce the Bank Records; yet the court sanctioned Mr. Godfrey for relying on the Beehive House to produce the Bank Records and for not issuing a subpoena for the records himself.

The logic of the ruling is even more perplexing, and further reveals that the court abused its discretion, in light of the court's subsequent statement. In explaining the decision to impose attorneys fees and costs as sanctions against The Beehive House, the trial court stated, "I'm also troubled by the fact that the Beehive House allowed a nonemployee to search for the records, and a codefendant in the case, and have [sic] not maintained 100 percent control over the documents in question." (R. at 548, p. 38.) Thus, in the span of one hearing, the trial court sanctioned Mr. Godfrey for not searching for The Beehive House's Bank Records, and then sanctioned the Beehive House for allowing Mr. Godfrey to search for those same records. According to the trial court's logic, no matter what the defendants did, they would be sanctioned. Defendants should not be placed in such an impossible conundrum. This, by itself, demonstrates that the court abused its discretion.

Mr. Godfrey was under no duty to produce the Bank Records of The Beehive House. Rule 34 clearly indicates that a party's responsibility is to produce only those documents in the party's "possession, custody, or control." The Bank Records were documents pertaining solely to The Beehive House, not to Mr. Godfrey. Accordingly, the trial court erred in sanctioning him for failing to produce them.

In Cochran Consulting, Inc. v. Uwatec USA, Inc., 102 F.3d 1224 (Fed. Cir. 1996), the Federal Circuit faced a similar situation and reversed the district court's imposition of discovery sanctions. There, Uwatec, the defendant in a patent infringement case, was

served with document requests seeking the computer code for the allegedly infringing device. Uwaterc did not own the code, but under threat of sanctions from the district court, it sued Dynatec, the purported owner of the code in Switzerland in order to establish ownership. The Swiss court ruled against Uwaterc and held that Dynatec was the sole owner of the code. In spite of this ruling, the district court in the patent litigation imposed harsh injunctive sanctions anyway.

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