1998

# Mary M. Tuck v. The Beehive House, a Utah Limited Partnership, and S. Chad Godfrey, an individual : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

GODFREY HAS NO BASIS FOR CHALLENGING THE FINDINGS OR CONCLUSIONS OF THE TRIAL COURT, IN THAT HE HAS FAILED TO MARSHALL EVIDENCE AS REQUIRED BY LAW.

It has long been established under Utah law that, where the ruling of a trial court is based upon factual determinations, a party appealing that determination must marshal evidence in support of a lower court's findings prior to seeking reversal thereof:

To successfully challenge a trial court's factual findings, "[a]n appellant must marshal the evidence in support of the findings and then demonstrate that despite this evidence, the trial court's findings are so lacking in support as to be 'against the clear weight of evidence,' thus making them 'clearly erroneous.'"

Jacobs v. Hafen, 875 P.2d 559, 561 (Utah App. 1994) (quoting In Re Estate of Bartel, 776 P.2d 885, 886 (Utah 1989); see also Estate of Walker, 743 P.2d 191 (Utah 1987)). If the appellant fails to marshal the evidences required, the appellate court must assume that the record below supports the findings of the trial court, and the lower court's findings cannot be disturbed. Jacobs, 875 P.2d 559; Pasker Gould Ames & Weber v. Morris, 887 P.2d 872 (Utah App. 1994); Alta Industries, Ltd. v. Hurst, 846 P.2d 1282 (Utah 1993). The appellant having made no effort whatever to marshal the evidence in support of a lower court's findings in this matter, those findings must stand undisturbed on appeal. Sanders v. Sharp, 806 P.2d 198 (Utah 1991).

## POINT II

### THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN SANCTIONING GODFREY FOR FAILURE TO PRODUCE FINANCIAL RECORDS RELATING TO THE OPERATIONS OF THE BEEHIVE HOUSE.

Godfrey first attempts to avoid the consequences of his inaction by arguing that, since the requested records were those of The Beehive House, the court abused its discretion in sanctioning him for failure to produce them. Godfrey relies in this regard on the case of Cochran Consulting, Inc. v. Uwaterc USA, Inc., 102 F.3d 1224 (Fed. Cir. 1996). The argument is both belated and inadequate, and the cited case inapposite.

To begin with, Godfrey nowhere suggested, either in the face of plaintiff's initial motion to compel discovery on his failure to respond to the August 1996 deposition notice and document request, or prior to the filing of plaintiff's second motion for sanctions on July 14, 1997, that he could not produce the requested documents because they were not in his possession or under his control. This failure alone defeats his belated argument that the documents were in the possession of The Beehive House and not his possession--

The failure to act described in the subdivision (Rule 37(d), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure) may not be excused on the ground that the discovery sought is objectionable, unless the party failing to act has applied for a protective order as provided by Rule 26(c).

Rule 37(d), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. If the documents requested incident to Godfrey's deposition (both in 1996 and again in 1997, after the court's first order compelling discovery and granting sanctions) were beyond Godfrey's ability to produce, he had ample opportunity to object to the request on this basis. But he made no such objection, at the time the requests were made, within thirty days thereafter (as required

by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure), or even in the face of plaintiff's motions for sanctions. Neither did he at any time seek a protective order on the basis that he had no access to the requested documents. Thus, it is both too late and completely disingenuous to assert at this point that he had no access to the requested documents.

Beyond Godfrey's failure to preserve his claim as provided by law, it is plain from the record that his argument on access to the requested records is completely specious. The lower court had before it the deposition of Beehive House representative B. Ralph Godfrey, who clearly testified to the following:

(a) That Mr. B. Ralph Godfrey, "owner" of The Beehive House, is father to Chad Godfrey (Deposition of B. Ralph Godfrey, R. 243 and Addendum 2 hereto, at p. 8);

(b) That until the intensive search for the documents began on July 10, 1997, the day before the scheduled deposition, the documents were believed to be in The Beehive House's off-site storage location in a residence at 5900 South occupied by Godfrey's family (Deposition of B. Ralph Godfrey, R. 243 and Addendum 2 hereto, at p. 13); and

(c) That in attempting to locate the records, The Beehive House's representative consulted with Mr. Godfrey (Deposition of B. Ralph Godfrey, R. 243 and Addendum 2 hereto, at p. 14).

In addition, the affidavit of DeeAnn B. Schaugaard (R. 326) established that in June of 1997, she was contacted by Godfrey, who directed her to locate the requested documents and furnish them to him, and that upon her inability to locate the documents on her own, she was assisted in her search on the day before the deposition by B. Ralph

Godfrey, Chad Godfrey and others. Affidavit of DeeAnn B. Schaugaard (R. 326) at ¶ 5-6, 10-12.

In short, it is clear from the evidence of record that the documents requested have been maintained since prior to August of 1996 (the date of plaintiff's first document request) by The Beehive House, a business owned and operated by the Godfrey family in which Godfrey was involved; that his failure to produce the requested records was due not to his inability to obtain access to them, but -- at best -- from his assumption that they were in storage at a readily accessible location under the control of his family members (an assumption not meaningfully tested until the day before the deposition). These circumstances more than justified the trial court in concluding that Godfrey had obstructed the completion of discovery through lack of any meaningful attention to the production of documents incident to his own deposition (as to which he registered no prior objection), and through then foisting responsibility for production off onto co-defendant Beehive House, the business controlled by his family members.

Cochran Consulting, Inc. v. Uwatec USA, Inc., 102 F.3d 1224 (Fed. Cir. 1996) (cited at p. 14 of Godfrey's brief), presents a fact situation far removed from that before the lower court in this action. In Cochran, the holder of the patent for a scuba indicator device sued alleged patent infringers. Incident to pre-trial discovery, the patent owner obtained a court order requiring the alleged patent infringers to produce a printed copy of a computer programming code utilized in manufacturing the accused device. The alleged infringers were unable to produce the requested documentation in that it was protected under Swiss law. They even went to the length of filing legal action in Switzerland to obtain the requested information, which action was unsuccessful. Under these

circumstances, the federal circuit properly concluded that the infringers could not be sanctioned for their inability to produce the requested documentation.

The contrast between the facts in Cochran and those before the lower court in this action is self-evident. The lower court found, based upon substantial and reliable evidence, that Godfrey simply neglected his obligation to make discovery until the last moment, at which time defendants were unable to locate the requested documents which (apparently) they had themselves mislaid -- resulting in plaintiff's inability to conduct meaningful discovery.

### POINT III

#### THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING GODFREY'S LACK OF COOPERATION IN RESPONDING TO DISCOVERY SANCTIONABLE BY STRIKING THE PLEADINGS AND ENTERING JUDGMENT.

Point II of Godfrey's Brief is little more than an attempt to re-characterize in more favorable light the facts underlying his failure to produce requested documents on two separate occasions. Appellee respectfully refers the Court to the record before the lower court in this regard. As noted, more than enough neglect, disregard and belated action was apparent from the record to justify the court's conclusion that Godfrey made no meaningful attempt to respond to plaintiff's discovery requests, and that what little attempt he did make was "too little and too late".

Godfrey properly observes that the imposition of sanctions for failure to make discovery requires a showing of "willfulness, bad faith or fault" (citing Utah Dept. of Transportation v. Osguthorpe, 892 P.2d 4 (Utah 1995)). In finding willfulness, bad faith or fault, however, the court need only find intentional failure as opposed to involuntary

noncompliance -- no wrongful intent need be shown. Amoco Mutual Insurance Company v. Shettler, 768 P.2d 950 (Utah App. 1989); M.E.N. Company v. Control Fluidics, Inc., 834 F.2d 869 (10th Cir. 1987). The lower court's leveling of sanctions against Godfrey was clearly based on findings that: (1) he had deliberately disregarded plaintiff's discovery requests, despite the prior imposition of an order compelling discovery, until the last moment; (2) he had then entrusted compliance to others, and taken no active role himself until the day prior to his deposition; and (3) the records which had admittedly been maintained by his family-owned company had mysteriously vanished. Such findings clearly justify the lower court's ruling and certainly preclude a finding that the trial court's sanctioning was an abuse of its discretion.

Neither may Godfrey avoid the consequences of his own action by citing the factual dissimilarity of other cases. He recites at length the facts in Utah Dept. of Transportation v. Osguthorpe, and briefly refers to the fact situations in other cases. Each discovery situation, however, is bound to turn on its own facts. It is for this reason that the trial court, being the closest to the situation and in the best position to adjudicate the merits thereof, is given such broad discretion in the imposition of sanctions. See Darrington v. Wade, 812 P.2d 452 (Utah App. 1991).

#### POINT IV

#### THE LOWER COURT'S ORDER WAS NOT PROCEDURALLY FLAWED.

In his final point, Godfrey attempts to argue that there were procedural flaws in the lower court's ruling. None of his various arguments is of merit.

Godfrey argues, first, that the sanction of striking pleadings and entering judgment by default was inappropriate because there had been no prior order to produce documents, but only to pay sanctions and appear for deposition. This argument is flawed for two reasons.

First, Rule 37(d), of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (under which plaintiff moved in this matter See R. 225), permits the imposition of sanctions -- *including the striking of pleadings and the entry of judgment by default* -- where a party fails to respond to a document request; *no prior order compelling discovery is necessary*.

Second, the lower court had previously entered an order granting sanctions for failure to comply with a notice of deposition which was clearly, and on its face, coupled with a request for production of documents pursuant to Rules 30(b)(5) and 34, of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (R. 86 and Addendum 1 hereto). Godfrey is attempting, apparently, to quibble with the wording of the prior order, which compelled him to pay attorneys' fees as a sanction, and thereafter present himself for deposition, yet made no express mention of documents or imposed any deadline for their production. Nevertheless, the second notice of deposition (again coupled with a request for production of documents) *did* state a date and time certain for production of the requested documents, and gave ample time under the rules for compliance.

Godfrey next attempts to reach back to the court's first order sanctioning him for noncompliance with discovery, and quarrel with the propriety of *its* entry, observing that the deposition in question had been canceled by plaintiff's counsel before the established date. While of questionable relevance, this assertion is readily answered.

Plaintiff's counsel canceled the deposition upon being notified by Mr. Godfrey's counsel that he would not appear for deposition. Affidavit of Vincent C. Rampton (R. 111) at ¶ 5-6.

Godfrey next argues that the *first* notice of deposition (his disregard of which resulted in his first sanction order from the court) provided him less than thirty days to respond to the accompanying document request. While again of questionable relevance to the order being appealed from, this observation is likewise easily answered. Godfrey made no objection whatever to the notice on the basis of insufficient time to respond, either prior to or following the date set for his deposition. Indeed, his only response to the request (other than to have his counsel notify plaintiff's counsel that he would not be appearing) was to file a belated Motion for Protective Order after the date set for the deposition -- *which nowhere raises any objection to the length of time permitted for response to the document request* (R. 115). Both Rule 30 and Rule 37 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure make it clear that a party may not disregard a discovery request, and afterward raise legal insufficiencies and objections when no protective order has been sought.

Finally, Godfrey seems to argue that the first order imposing sanctions on him for failure to comply with the August 1996 notice of deposition was somehow flawed in that it resulted from plaintiff's counsel renegeing on an implied agreement to postpone the deposition until September of 1996. This version of the facts, first urged to the trial court incident to Godfrey's September 6, 1996 Motion for Protective Order, was flatly contradicted by submissions through plaintiff's counsel (see R. 111; 151). The evidence



clearly established that no agreement had been or could be reached to postpone the deposition of Godfrey without an understanding that, upon his failure to appear for such deposition, default judgment could be entered against all named defendants in the action. When defendants refused to agree to this proposition, a motion for sanctions was pursued. See R. 151.

### CONCLUSION

It has been admitted in the pleadings in this action, from the very outset, that defendants S. Chad Godfrey and The Beehive House received over \$380,000.00 from plaintiff Mary M. Tuck before her death; that the transfers were in the form of personal checks bearing the legends "loan" or "real estate investment"; that they made two attempts to pay back a portion of that money (which failed due to the dishonoring of the tendered checks); that they have made no attempt to pay back any portion of the balance. Plaintiff thereupon undertook to conduct discovery to find out what had happened to the money. His first attempt to obtain documents in deposition testimony from Godfrey was met with the announcement that Godfrey was "out of state" (later learned to be in a federal penitentiary facility, a fact concealed from both plaintiff and the court) and would not be appearing, with or without documents. When negotiations for rescheduling of the deposition failed, and a motion for sanctions was brought, the court ordered Godfrey to pay attorneys' fees and thereafter respond to discovery. When his deposition was re-noticed for July of 1997 (again with attendant production of documents), the day of the deposition arrived, but the documents did not.

Plaintiff thereafter discovered that Mr. Godfrey has disregarded the discovery request until shortly before the deposition; that he had then asked representatives of

Beehive House to locate the documents for him; that the documents (which had admittedly been maintained and kept by The Beehive House, Mr. Godfrey's family owned business) had mysteriously disappeared, and could not be produced. Plaintiff's follow-up motion for sanctions was deferred for several weeks despite plaintiff's request for expedited hearing. Even with the additional time, however, Godfrey did not produce any documents, and made no attempt to obtain them from any other source.

When all of the foregoing facts were laid before the trial court on September 4, 1997, the trial judge had plainly and understandably had enough of Godfrey's conduct. The resulting order striking Godfrey's pleadings and entering default judgment against him is defensible under any legal standard and certainly does not rise to the level of an "abuse of discretion".

Based on the foregoing, it is submitted that lower court's order on Plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions for Failure to Make Discovery should be affirmed.